# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-762

## LOWER TRIBUNAL No. 89-2165

	GEORGE MICHAEL HODGES,		
	Appellant,		
	v.		
STATE OF FLORIDA,			
	Appellee.		
	INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT		

LINDA McDERMOTT Florida Bar No. 0102857 McClain & McDermott, P.A.

20301 Grande Oak Blvd. Suite 118 - 61 Estero, Florida 33928 (850) 322-2172 Fax (954) 564-5412

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's summarily denial of Mr. Hodges' successive motion for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and 3.851.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

On November 30, 2009, the United States Supreme Court issued its decision in *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). There, the United States Supreme Court ruled that this Court's *Strickland* analysis which appeared in *Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001), was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. at 455. Under the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act (AEDPA), the United States Supreme Court was required to give some deference to this Court's application of *Strickland*. It could not grant habeas relief from a state court judgment merely because it disagreed with the state court's application of federal constitutional law. Specifically, habeas relief could only be issued to George Porter if this Court's *Strickland* analysis was not just wrong, but clearly and unreasonably wrong. It is in this context that the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Porter v. McCollum* must be read.

Mr. Hodges' current appeal requires this Court to engage in an introspective look at the import of the decision in *Porter v.*McCollum and consider whether its own unreasonable analysis in *Porter v. State* was merely an aberration or was it in fact indicative of a systemic failure by this Court to properly understand and apply *Strickland*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

In the relatively recent past, this Court has on two occasions assessed the effect to be accorded to a decision by the United States Supreme Court finding that this Court had misapprehended and misapplied United States Supreme Court precedent. In *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), the United States Supreme Court granted federal habeas relief because this Court had failed to properly apply *Lockett v. Ohio*, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), and find Eighth Amendment error when a capital jury was not advised that it could and should consider non-statutory mitigating circumstances when returning an advisory verdict in a capital penalty phase proceeding. <sup>2</sup> In *Espinosa v. Florida*, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992), the United States Supreme Court summarily reversed a decision by this Court which found that *Maynard v. Cartwright*, 486 U.S. 356 (1988), was not applicable in Florida because the jury's verdict in a Florida capital penalty phase proceedings was merely advisory. <sup>3</sup>

Following the decisions in *Hitchcock v. Dugger* and *Espinosa v. Florida*, this Court was called upon to address whether other death sentenced individuals whose death sentences had also been affirmed by this Court due to the same misapprehension of federal law should arbitrarily be denied the benefit of the proper construction and application of federal constitutional law. On both occasions, this Court determined that fairness dictated that those, who had not received from this Court the benefit of the proper application of federal constitutional law, should be allowed to re-present their claims and have those claims judged under the proper constitutional standards. *See Thompson v. Dugger*, 515 So. 2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1987)("We hold we are required by this *Hitchcock* decision to re-examine this matter as a new issue of law"); *James v. State*, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993) (*Espinosa* to be applied retroactively to Mr. James because "it would not be fair to deprive him of the *Espinosa* ruling").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The AEDPA was not in effect at the time of the decision in *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, so there was no need for the United States Supreme Court to determine that this Court's decision was clearly or unreasonably wrong. The United States Supreme Court's review in *Hitchcock* was *de novo*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The decision by the United States Supreme Court in *Espinosa v. Florida* was in the course of direct review of this Court's decision affirming a death sentence on direct appeal. The United States Supreme Court's decision was not through the prism of federal habeas review, and thus the United States Supreme Court employed *de novo* review.

Mr. Hodges, whose ineffective assistance of counsel claims were heard and decided by this Court before *Porter v. McCollum* was rendered, seeks in this appeal what George Porter received. Mr. Hodges seeks to have his ineffectiveness claims reheard and re-evaluated using the proper *Strickland* standard that the United States Supreme Court applied in Mr. Porter's case to find a re-sentencing was warranted. Mr. Hodges seeks the benefit of the same rule of law that was applied to Mr. Porter's ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Mr. Hodges seeks the proper application of the *Strickland* standard. Mr. Hodges seeks to be treated equally and fairly.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 8, 1987, Betty Ricks was found on the ground next to her car at the Beverage Barn where she worked (R. 256-58).

Ricks died the next day of gunshot wounds to her head and neck (R. 283, 287). In 1989, the police arrested George Michael Hodges, who was indicted for first degree murder (R. 806, 815). Mr. Hodges pled not guilty, and his jury trial began on July 10, 1989.

Following the conclusion of the trial, the jury convicted Mr. Hodges (R. 650). Thereafter, subsequent to a penalty phase, the jury recommended death by a vote of 10 to 2 (R. 741-4). A sentencing hearing was held on August 9, 1989 (R. 960-77), and the Court sentenced Mr. Hodges to death on August 10, 1989 (R. 893-9, 902-8).

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Hodges' conviction and sentence. *Hodges v. State*, 595 So. 2d 929 (Fla. 1992). However, after filing a writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court, the Court vacated the judgment and remanded for further consideration in light of *Espinosa v. Florida*, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992). On remand, this Court again affirmed Mr. Hodges' death sentence. *Hodges v. State*, 619 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 1993).

On June 20, 1995, Mr. Hodges filed a motion under Rule 3.850, Fla. R. Crim. P. (PC-R. 14-54). The circuit court granted an evidentiary hearing on three ineffective assistance of counsel claims and a claim under Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985), and summarily

When Mr. Porter's case was returned to the circuit court for a re-sentencing, a life sentence was imposed.

denied all other claims (PC-R. 210-30, 730-49). On June 6, 2001, the circuit court denied relief. Mr. Hodges appealed, and this Court affirmed. *Hodges v. State*, 885 So. 2d 338 (Fla. 2003).

In addressing Mr. Hodges' penalty phase ineffective assistance of counsel claim, this Court also gave complete deference to the circuit court's ruling. This Court stated:

The trial court here determined that penalty phase counsel conducted a reasonable background investigation, and that the deficient results of that investigation were attributable to an uncooperative defendant and unwilling, absent, or recalcitrant witnesses. Ineffective assistance of counsel claims are mixed questions of law and fact, and are thus subject to plenary review based on the *Strickland* test. *See Gaskin v. State*, 822 So.2d 1243, 1246-47 (Fla. 2002). Under this standard, the Court conducts an independent review of the trial court's legal conclusions, while giving deference to the trial court's factual findings. *See id.; see also Ragsdale v. State*, 798 So.2d 713, 715 (Fla. 2001). Employing that standard, we affirm the trial court's determination that Hodges' penalty phase counsel conducted a reasonable background investigation, and confirm that Hodges indeed had the benefit of counsel as constitutionally guaranteed. Moreover, even if we assume that counsel performed deficiently, we cannot agree that there is a reasonable probability that, but for such deficiency, Hodges would have received a life sentence.

Hodges v. State, 885 So. 2d at 346.

On April 22, 2002, Mr. Hodges filed a habeas corpus petition in this Court, which denied relief on June 19, 2003. *Hodges v. State*, 885 So. 2d 338 (Fla. 2003). On March 4, 2005, Mr. Hodges filed a second habeas corpus petition in this Court, which denied relief on June 23, 2005. *Hodges v. Crosby*, 907 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 2005).

On January 4, 2006, Mr. Hodges filed a federal habeas corpus petition. The petition was denied by the district court on February 22, 2007. Mr. Hodges appealed to the Eleventh Circuit, which affirmed the district court's order on November 9, 2007. *Hodges v. Attorney General*, 506 F.3d 1337 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2007). Mr. Hodges' petition for writ of certiorari was denied by the United States Supreme Court. *Hodges v. McNeil*, 129 S.Ct. 122 (2008).

On July 28, 2008, Mr. Hodges filed a successive postconviction motion in the circuit court based on a lethal injection issue (PC R2. 12). On February 13, 2009, the circuit court issued an order summarily denying Mr. Hodges' motion (PC R2. 64-82). Mr. Hodges appealed, and this Court affirmed. *Hodges v. State*, SC09-575 (Fla. Jan. 11, 2010).

On October 21, 2010, Mr. Hodges filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion based upon *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009). On November 9, 2010, the State responded. The circuit court held a case management conference on February 4, 2011. Thereafter, on March 4, 2011, the circuit court denied Mr. Hodges motion. Mr. Hodges timely filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### The Trial

In 1987, Betty Ricks was shot and killed as she exited her car at the Beverage Barn in Plant City to begin work in the early morning hours on January 10<sup>th</sup>. In 1989, over two years after Ms. Ricks' death, the police arrested George Michael Hodges and he was indicted for first degree murder (R. 815).

Trial commenced six (6) months after Mr. Hodges' arrest, in July, 1989. The testimony presented at the guilt phase of Mr. Hodges' capital trial was entirely circumstantial.

Over defense objections, the State presented evidence that Ms. Ricks had accused Mr. Hodges of exposing himself to her in November, 1986 (R. 296), and that she was adamant about prosecuting Mr. Hodges (R. 297). Mr. Hodges was directed into an arbitration hearing and was scheduled to attend on January 8<sup>th</sup> (R. 488). That day he called the program and said there was no reason for him to go through the diversion program (R. 489).

Additionally, the State presented a witness, Janetta Hansen, who worked with Mr. Hodges at Zayre, which was located across the street from the Beverage Barn (R. 306). On the morning of the crime, while it was still dark, Ms. Hansen saw a truck that looked like Mr. Hodges' near the Beverage Barn, but she did not see the victim's car (R. 311).

The medical examiner testified that Ms. Ricks had been shot twice (R. 288). Testimony was presented that Mr. Hodges owned a shotgun, as did his step-son (R. 387).

Detective Miller testified that Mr. Hodges maintained that his step-son, Jesse Watson, drove his car to school on the morning of the crime, but returned home around 8:30 a.m. because he felt ill (R. 333). Mr. Hodges also surrendered his shotgun to the police (R. 333).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Peggy Lewandowski, a neighbor of the Hodges, testified that in 1988 she provided a statement to the police in which she stated that she saw a truck pull in the Hodges' driveway at approximately 8:00 a.m. (R. 353).

In order to refute Mr. Hodges' statements, the State presented testimony from Mr. Hodges' family members. Jessie Watson, Mr. Hodges' step-son, testified that he awoke at 5:30 a.m. on the morning of the crime, when he heard Mr. Hodges come home (R. 417). He testified that Mr. Hodges entered the house with his shotgun in his hands (R. 418). Mr. Watson told Mr. Hodges that he was not feeling well and Mr. Hodges told him to drive his truck to school (R. 420). Mr. Watson testified that his shotgun had scratches on it, and he identified the shotgun in evidence as his (R. 416).

Mr. Watson testified that he lied to the police when he was interviewed about the crime (R. 425). On cross examination, Mr. Watson testified that Mr. Hodges admitted that he was involved in the crime, but that Mr. Watson did not believe him (R. 428). Mr. Watson was also impeached with letters he wrote to Mr. Hodges, while he was incarcerated, admitting that he lied to the police about Mr. Hodges' alleged confession and informing Mr. Hodges that the police and prosecutors were pressuring him (R. 430). Mr. Watson also admitted that he was a drug addict and that he was undergoing treatment for his problem at the time of the trial (R. 434).

Mr. Hodges' wife, Harriet Hodges, testified that on the evening before the crime, she and Mr. Hodges stayed up late and played cards with some friends (R. 382). When she awoke the morning of the crime she heard Mr. Hodges speaking to her son, Jessie Watson (R. 383). Mr. Watson drove Mr. Hodges' truck to school that morning (R. 386). Mrs. Hodges did not know whether, on the morning of the crime, Mr. Hodges left the house or not (R. 390). Mrs. Hodges also admitted that she had made a false statement to the police in 1987 (R. 393).

Vickie Boatwright, Jesse Watson's girlfriend, testified that Mr. Hodges had told her in 1988, that he had shot a woman and she had died (R. 367). She also testified that Mr. Hodges stated that nothing happened because he gave the police Mr. Watson's gun. On cross examination, Ms. Boatwright testified that she thought Mr. Hodges was kidding (R. 387). She also admitted that she did not tell the police about this conversation until after she was questioned twice and spoke to Mr. Watson (R. 371).

The defense presented evidence that a witness saw a truck, not Mr. Hodges', in the parking lot of the Beverage Barn around 6:00 a.m., on the morning of January  $8^{th}$  (R. 539-1).

Further, Detective Rick Orzechowski testified that he was aware that the victim's step-father ran for a position on the city commission in order to remove the current police chief and replace him with an individual who would pursue the investigation of his step-daughter's murder (R. 299).

The jury convicted Mr. Hodges (R. 650).

On July 14, 1989, one day after the jury found George Hodges guilty of first degree murder, the jury reconvened to hear the penalty phase evidence and recommend whether Mr. Hodges should be sentenced to death or life in prison with a minimum of twenty-five years.

The penalty phase hearing lasted less than forty-five minutes. During that forty-five minutes, the State of Florida presented three witnesses: Detectives Orzechowski and Horn as well as Debra Ricks, the victim's sister. All three of the witnesses' testimony consisted of the hearsay testimony that the victim, Betty Ricks, told them that George Hodges approached her and attempted to convince her to drop the exposure charge (R. 681, 685, 689). During Debra Ricks's testimony the defense objected because she was crying before the jury (R. 688).

Mr. Hodges' trial attorney presented the testimony of two witnesses: Lula Hodges and Harold Stewart, Mr. Hodges' mother and brother-in-law, respectively. Mrs. Hodges testified while her husband sat in the courtroom. Mrs. Hodges testified that George grew up in West Virginia; the family moved around a lot; that George did not finish high school, but obtained a GED and that George's brother drowned and "[i]t seemed to change [George] completely, because they was real close." (R. 694). Mrs. Hodges' testimony is transcribed in less than three pages. Mr. Stewart testified that George was a good worker and a good father (R. 697, 698). His testimony is transcribed in less than two-and-a-half pages. No exhibits were entered.

No mental health testimony was presented to the jury.

The State argued that two aggravating factors applied: 1) the crime was committed to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of governmental function or the enforcement of laws; and 2) the crime was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner, without any pretense of moral or legal justification. While the prosecutor argued that two (2) aggravating factors applied in Mr. Hodges' case, he told the jury: "The State of Florida is limited to proving ten aggravating circumstances." (R. 711).

Also, as this Court recognized on direct appeal, the prosecutor made an improper "Golden Rule" argument to the jury which was not objected to by Mr. Hodges' trial counsel. *Hodges v. State*, 595 So. 2d 929, 933-934 (1992).

What about life in imprisonment (sic)? What can a person do in jail for life? You can cry. You can read. You can watch TV. You can listen to the radio. You can talk to people. In short, you are alive. People want to live. You are living. All right? If Betty Ricks had had a choice between spending life in prison or lying on that pavement in her own blood, what choice would Betty Ricks have made? But, you see, Betty Ricks didn't have that choice.

(R. 716-7).

Mr. Hodges' trial attorney argued that recommending life for Mr. Hodges would mean that Mr. Hodges would serve a minimum of twenty-five (25) years in prison. Trial counsel then read the entire list of the aggravating circumstances, even those that had already been determined, and the State conceded, were inapplicable to Mr. Hodges' case (R. 722-3). Also, counsel argued that Mrs. Hodges loved her son and the jury should be compassionate (R. 723).

Following closing arguments, the jury was improperly instructed about the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor (R. 726). Trial counsel failed to object to the unconstitutionally vague instruction. *Hodges v. State*, 619 So. 2d 272, 273 (Fla. 1993). As to mitigation, the jury was told that they could consider "any aspect of the defendant's character or record and any other circumstance of the offense." (R. 726-7). The jury did not hear the instructions regarding any other statutory mitigators.

During deliberation, the jury requested a list of the inadmissible aggravating circumstances (R. 731).

Also, while the jury deliberated, Mr. Hodges attempted to commit suicide by hanging himself and was taken to the hospital (R. 732). His attorneys did not request that the court inform the jury about the suicide attempt or request the assistance of a mental health expert. However, the court appointed two (2) experts to determine if Mr. Hodges was competent to be sentenced (R. 890).

After hearing almost no evidence about Mr. Hodges' background the jury recommended death by a vote of ten (10) to two (2) (R. 739).

In accordance with the jury's recommendation, the trial court sentenced Mr. Hodges to death. The court found two (2) aggravating circumstances: (1) The crime was committed to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of any governmental function or the enforcement of laws; and (2) The crime was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner (R. 906-8). The court's order stated: "the Court has attempted to find mitigating circumstances sufficient in weight to offset the [] aggravating circumstances . . . Mr. Hodges' family has spoken as to his character and dedication to his family." (R. 908). The trial court found no other mitigation.

## The Direct Appeal

During Mr. Hodges' direct appeal, this Court found several errors had occurred at his capital trial. This Court found that inadmissible hearsay was admitted during the guilt phase regarding the victim's statements and state of mind that she was adamant about prosecuting Mr. Hodges for the indecent exposure. *Hodges v. State*, 595 So. 2d 929, 931-932 (Fla. 1992). However, this Court found that the error was harmless. *Id*.

Further, this Court found that the prosecutor's closing argument during the penalty phase was error. *Id.* at 933-934. However, this Court found that the error was harmless and there was no objection. *Id.* 

In light of the limited mitigation, this Court found Mr. Hodges' death sentence proportionate. *Id.* at 935.

This Court also found that the cold, calculated and premeditated instruction was not unconstitutional and the issue was meritless.

Hodges, 595 So. 2d at 934. However, the United States Supreme Court vacated Mr. Hodges' sentence and remanded to this Court in light of

Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079. Hodges v. Florida, 506 U.S. 803 (1992). On remand, this Court found that the issue was procedurally barred because counsel failed to object at trial. Hodges v. State, 619 So. 2d 272, 273 (Fla. 1993).

#### The Evidentiary Hearing

At the evidentiary hearing Mr. Hodges presented several lay witnesses who provided detailed testimony regarding his troubled childhood. These witnesses included his sister Karen Sue Tucker, his brother, Robert Hodges, and family friend Cecilia Sanson. In addition, Dr. Richard Ball, a sociologist, testified regarding the detrimental effects growing up in the poverty stricken subculture of southern Appalachia where the Hodges lived. Also, Dr. Marlin Delaney, a toxicologist, testified regarding the effects of lead poisoning from the Kanawha River.

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