IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GEORGE M. HODGES,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC11-762 L.T. No. 82-2165-CF

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF SECOND SUCCESSIVE RULE 3.851 MOTION
THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0327832
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly denied this successive, untimely, and procedurally barred motion to vacate. Hodges' claim did not meet the requirements of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B). Porter did not change the law, and even if it had, that change would not be retroactive. The claim in Hodges' second successive post-conviction motion was a procedurally barred attempt to relitigate a previously denied claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Further, Hodges failed to prove deficiency and does not show that the lack of deficiency was affected by the Porter decision. Finally, Hodges' collateral counsel was not authorized to file this successive, untimely, frivolous and procedurally-barred motion.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY SUMMARILY DENIED HODGES' SECOND SUCCESSIVE RULE 3.851 MOTION VACATE BECAUSE THEMOTION, BASED McCOLLUM, PORTER \mathbf{v} . WAS TIME-BARRED, UNAUTHORIZED, SUCCESSIVE, **PROCEDURALLY** BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT -- PORTER DID NOT CONSTITUTE A NEW FUNDAMENTAL AND RETROACTIVE "CHANGE IN LAW".

This is a post-conviction appeal from the circuit court's summary denial of Hodges' second successive Rule 3.851 motion to vacate, based on Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). Hodges seeks to relitigate his previously-denied claims of ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel on the ground that Porter allegedly represents a "change in law" that should be retroactively applied. The only questions properly before this Court are: 1) Did Porter "change" the law on ineffective assistance of counsel and 2) if so, has the alleged "change in law" been held to apply retroactively under Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980)? The answer to both questions is no. Therefore, the trial court properly denied Hodges' motion as untimely, successive and procedurally barred.

The Trial Court's Order

In denying Hodges' second successive motion to vacate, based on *Porter*, the trial court stated, in pertinent part:

On July 13, 1989, a jury found Defendant guilty of first degree murder. The jury recommended a death sentence and, on August 10, 1989, the trial court

sentenced Defendant to death. On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Defendant's conviction and death sentence. See State v. Hodges, 595 So.2d 929 (Fla. 1992). Thereafter, the United States Supreme Court granted certiorari, vacated Hodges, and remanded for further consideration in light of the Court's decision in Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992). See Hodges v. Florida, 506 U.S. 803 (1992). On remand from the United States Supreme Court, the Florida Supreme Court again affirmed the death sentence in Hodges v. State, 619 So.2d 272 (Fla. 1993), and the United State Supreme Court denied certiorari in Hodges v. Florida, 510 U.S. 996 (1993).

On June 20, 1995, Defendant filed a 3.850 motion for post conviction relief and, on June 6, 2001, the postconviction court denied Defendant's motion. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the denial of Defendant's 3.850 motion in *Hodges v. State*, 885 So.2d 338 (Fla. 2003).

On April 22, 2002 and March 4, 2005, Defendant filed habeas corpus petitions in the Florida Supreme Court. Those petitions were denied on June 19, 2003 and June 23, 2005, respectively. See Hodges v. State, 885 So.2d 338 (Fla. (2003); Hodges v. Crosby, So.2d 1170 (Fla. 2005). Defendant also filed a federal petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida, and that petition was denied. See Hodges v. Sec'y, Dep't of Corrections, 2007 WL 604982 (M.D. Fla. February 22, 2007). The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeal affirmed. Hodges v. Attorney Gen., State of Florida, 506 F.3d 1337 (11th Cir. 2007). Defendant then filed a petition for writ of certiorari, which the United States Supreme Court denied on October 6, 2008. See Hodges v. McNeil, 129 S.Ct. 122 (2008).

On July 28, 2008, Defendant raised a lethal injection issue in a successive 3.851 motion and that motion was summarily denied. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the denial of his successive motion in Hodges v. State, No. SC09-575, 2010 WL 93468, at *1 (Fla. January 11, 2010).

In the instant motion, Defendant again alleges -

did in his original January 20, postconviction relief motion - that he received ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase, and argues this issue should be re-evaluated in light of the United Supreme Court's decision in Porter v. McCollum, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009). In Porter, the Court found the Florida Supreme Court misapplied the Strickland [fn1] analysis in Porter's case, and failed to "consider or unreasonably discounted the mitigation evidence" presented during his evidentiary hearing. Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 454-56. Defendant contends that Porter "represents a fundamental repudiation of the Florida Supreme Court's Strickland jurisprudence, and as such Porter constitutes a change in law . . . which [his] Porter claim cognizable in renders postconviction proceedings." Although Defendant acknowledges that Porter did not create a new right capital defendant, he asserts that *Porter* fundamental constitutes "a development of significance" and, therefore, should be held to apply and retroactively applied in this case. Defendant further requests that this Court hold a new evidentiary on his claim of ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel, and conduct the probing factspecific analysis required by Porter.

The State essentially argues that Defendant's motion is untimely, successive, procedurally barred and unauthorized. Specifically, the State argues that Porter did not create a fundamental change in constitutional law, but only applied the Strickland analysis to the facts of Porter's case. Therefore, the State asserts, Defendant's motion is successive, does not fall within any of the exceptions authorized in rule 3.851(d)(2), and should be summarily denied.

The Court first notes rule 3.851 requires that any motion to vacate a conviction and sentence of death be filed within 1 year after the judgment and sentence become final. See Fla. R. Crim. 3.851(d)(1). As relied on by Defendant, the rule further permits a court to consider such a motion beyond the 1-year time limit when "the fundamental constitutional right asserted was not established within the period provided for in subdivision (d)(1) and has been held to apply retroactively." Fla. R.

Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B). Defendant's judgment and sentence became final on November 29, 1993, when the United State Supreme Court denied certiorari. See Hodges v. Florida, 510 U.S. 996 (1993).

The Court finds that Porter merely applied the Strickland analysis to the particular facts Porter's case, and found that the Florida Supreme Court was incorrect in its Strickland analysis as to However, Porter did not change the Porter's case. Strickland standard or its application, and does not constitute a fundamental change or development Florida or constitutional law. Therefore, the instant motion does not fall within in any of the exceptions delineated in rule 3.851(d)(2). Defendant essentially seeks re-litigate ineffective to assistance of penalty phase counsel issues which were previously raised, denied following an evidentiary hearing, and affirmed on appeal. See Hodges, 885 So.2d at 345-53, 359. Consequently, after considering the motion, answer, court file and record, the Court finds instant motion is untimely, successive procedurally barred. As such, no relief is warranted on Defendant's motion.

It is therefore ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Defendant's motion is hereby DENIED.

fnl. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

fn2. Defendant cites to the three-prong test for retroactive application of a change in the law as set forth in *Witt V. State*, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980), as well as other Florida cases which permitted retroactive application of changes in the law, to support his assertion that this issue is properly and timely raised in the instant motion.

(PCR-3, 2/232-35) (e.s.)

Analysis

The trial court correctly summarily denied Hodges' second successive motion to vacate, based on *Porter*, because the motion was patently frivolous — it was unauthorized, time-barred, successive, repetitive, procedurally barred and also without merit. Because Hodges did not identify any new constitutional right created by *Porter*, nor show that *Porter* has been held to apply retroactively, his motion was facially insufficient, unauthorized, untimely and procedurally barred.

Hodges asserts that the trial court should have granted his second successive motion for post-conviction relief by holding that Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009), constitutes a "fundamental repudiation of this Court's Strickland jurisprudence," which constitutes a change in law that satisfies the Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980) standard. concludes that it was proper for him to raise this claim in a successive, time-barred motion to vacate. Hodges also insists that if the alleged "change in law" from Porter, as construed by Hodges, was applied to his case, it would show that trial counsel was deficient and that Hodges was prejudiced by the alleged deficiency.

Pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d), a defendant must present his post-conviction claims within one year of when his

conviction and sentence became final unless certain exceptions are met. Here, Hodges' conviction and sentences became final in 1993, when the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari after direct review. See, Hodges v. State, 619 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, Hodges v. Florida, 510 U.S. 996 (1993). Inasmuch as Hodges did not file this motion until 2010, this motion was time barred. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(d)(1)(B).

In an effort to circumvent the time-bar, Hodges attempts to rely on the exception for newly-recognized, retroactive constitutional rights. However, Hodges' claim does not fit within this exception. Pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. 3.851(d)(2)(B), the time bar is lifted if "the fundamental constitutional right asserted was not established within the period provided for in subdivision (d)(1) and has been held to apply retroactively." Hodges does not assert a claim based on a fundamental constitutional right that was not established within a year of when his convictions and sentences became final. fact, Hodges concedes that Porter did not change federal constitutional law at all, Initial Brief at 33, fn. 7, but, rather, concludes that this Court's analysis was at odds with the United States Supreme Court's existing precedent. does not suggest that Porter "has been held to apply retroactively." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B). In fact, no court has held that Porter established a "new law" that is retroactive; instead, both this Court and the federal courts, including the United States Supreme Court, have uniformly reinforced the application of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) to claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. See, Cullen v. Pinholster, 131 S. Ct. 1388 (2011); Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 770 (2011); Premo v. Moore, 131 S. Ct. 733 (2011); Padilla v. Kentucky, 130 S. Ct. 1473 (2010); Renico v. Lett, 130 S. Ct. 1855 (2010); Sears v. Upton, 130 S. Ct. 3259 (2010); Reed v. Sec'y, Fla. Dept. of Corrections, 593 F.3d 1217, 1243 n.16, 1246 (11th Cir. 2010); Boyd v. Allen, 592 F.3d 1274, 1302 (11th Cir. 2010); Franqui v. State, 59 So. 3d 82, 95 (Fla. 2011); Troy v. State, 57 So. 3d 828, 836 (Fla. 2011); Everett v. State, 54 So. 3d 464, 472 (Fla. 2010); Schoenwetter v. State, 46 So. 3d 535 (Fla. 2010); Stewart v. State, 37 So. 3d 243, 247 (Fla. 2010); Rodriguez v. State, 39 So. 3d 275, 285 (Fla. 2010).

Since *Porter* neither recognized a new right nor has been held to apply retroactively, it does not meet the exception to the time bar found in Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B). Instead of relying on a newly-established fundamental constitutional right that has been held to be retroactive in order to meet the requirements of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B), Hodges

apparently concludes that having improperly raised unauthorized claim in a successive, untimely and procedurally barred Rule 3.851 motion, this Court now has jurisdiction to determine whether Porter qualifies as new law, since the trial court does not have the authority to do so. In other words, under Hodges' view, the (d)(2)(B) exception doesn't really mean what it says when it says "has been held to be retroactive" and this prerequisite can be ignored by any defendant unilaterally declares that a recent case establishes a new fundamental constitutional right that should be applied retroactively.

Hodges is incorrect. This Court has held that court rules are to be construed in accordance with their plain language. Koile v. State, 934 So. 2d 1226, 1230 (Fla. 2006); Saia Motor Freight Line, Inc. v. Reid, 930 So. 2d 598, 599 (Fla. 2006). Moreover, the use of the past tense in a rule conveys the meaning that an action has already occurred. Sims v. State, 753 So. 2d 66, 70 (Fla. 2000). Here, the plain language of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B) requires "the fundamental constitutional right asserted was not established within the period provided for in subdivision (d)(1) and has been held to retroactively." Thus, for this exception to apply, it requires both a new fundamental constitutional right and a prior holding that the right is to be applied retroactively. See, Tyler v. Cain, 533 U.S. 656 (2001) (holding that use of past tense in federal statute regarding successive federal habeas petitions requires Court to hold new rule retroactive before it can be relied upon). Hodges cannot use his unilateral declaration for the exception in Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B) to apply. Rather, Hodges must show that a newly established right has been held retroactive for the exception to apply. The trial court properly denied Hodges' second successive motion to vacate as time-barred, successive and procedurally barred.

The import of Porter's "unreasonable application" finding under 28 U.S.C. §2254(d), as amended by the AEDPA

Even if Hodges arguably could satisfy Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B) by showing a "change in law" regarding an existing right and asking this Court to find it retroactive, the trial court still properly denied the motion because *Porter* did not change the law. While Hodges insists that *Porter* represents a "fundamental repudiation of this Court's *Strickland* jurisprudence," Initial Brief of Appellant at 31, and not simply a determination that this Court misapplied the correct law to the facts of one case, this is not true.

In making this argument, Hodges relies on the fact that the United States Supreme Court granted relief in *Porter* after

finding that this Court had unreasonably applied Strickland. Hodges mistakenly concludes that since this determination was made under the deferential AEDPA standard of review, the United States Supreme Court must have found a systematic problem with this Court's understanding of the law under Strickland.

argument misconstrues the meaning of the term Hodges' "unreasonable application" under 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d), as amended by the AEDPA. As the United States Supreme Court has explained, U.S.C. §2254(d)(1), provides two separate and distinct circumstances under which a federal court may grant relief based on a claim that the state court previously rejected on the These are: (1) that the ruling was "contrary clearly established United States Supreme Court precedent; and (2) that the ruling was an "unreasonable application of" clearly established United States Supreme Court precedent. Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 404-05 (2000). The United States Supreme Court explained that a state court decision fit within the "contrary to" provision when the state court got the legal standard for the claim wrong or reached the opposite conclusion from the United States Supreme Court on "materially indistinguishable" facts. *Id.* at 412-13. Α state court decision would fit within the "unreasonable application" provision when "the state court identifies the correct governing

legal principle from this Court's decisions but unreasonably applies that principle to the facts of the prisoner's case."

Id. at 413.

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